
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

OGUNQUIT PLANNING BOARD 
SITE VISIT 
MINUTES 

OCTOBER 2, 2017 
 
 
DATE:  October 2, 2017 
TIME:  4:00 p.m. 
LOCATION:  261 Shore Road 
 
 
A. Mr. Wilkos called the Roll at 4:00 p.m. 
 
Planning Board Members Present: Steve Wilkos, Chair 
     Rusty Hayes, Vice Chair 
     Muriel Freedman 
     Jackie Bevins 
     Priscilla Botsford (1st Alternate) 
 
Planning Board Members Excused: Mark MacLeod 
  
Also Present: Scott Heyland, Ogunquit Code Enforcement Officer 
  Mark O’Brien, Ogunquit Fire Chief  
  Lee Jay Feldman, SMPDC Town Planner  
  Maryann Stacy, Planning Board Recording Secretary 
  Matthew Wickert, Applicant 
 
B.  SITE INSPECTION – 
  
1. NORTHERN UNION / MATTHEW WICKERT – 261 Shore Road (Map 5 
 Block 15) Limited Business District (LBD). Site Plan and Design Review for a 
 pre 1930 structure.  Application to convert from a Type 1 Restaurant to a  
 Type 2 Restaurant, and the addition of a gas fire pit and patio area. 
 
Mr. Wilkos called the Site Visit to order at 4:00 p.m.  
 
Mr. Wilkos noted that one of the primary concerns is the parking.  He asked Mr. Wickert 
to speak to this issue. 
 



Planning Board Site Visit – October 2, 2017 – Northern Union – 261 Shore Road (Map 5 Block 
15) 

2 
 

The group gathered in the paved seven space parking area off of Stearns Road. 
 
Mr. Wickert noted that all of the parking areas have been in place, and in use, since the 
1980’s. He asked Mr. Heyland to confirm that the parking spaces in this lot meet Code 
Standards. 
 
Mr. Heyland responded that they appear to meet parking stall dimension requirements. 
 
Mr. Wickert pointed out that the parking lot is actually deeper than it appears. There is a 
small area along the road’s edge which was a “patch job” put in place by the Town. This 
makes it appear as if the road encroaches further into the parking area than it actually 
does. 
 
Mr. Wickert noted that he went over all of the parking areas; and he spray painted the 
parking spaces which are nine feet (9’) wide and eighteen and one half feet (18.5’) deep 
and would meet code for parking stalls. 
 
Debbie Marathon added that she has had her real estate office on this property since 
1998, through three separate owners, and she has never seen the parking this organized. 
 
The group moved to the second parking area which is an unpaved parking area off of 
Stearns Road. 
 
Mr. Wickert noted that he had removed some of the vegetation around this parking area 
to improve line of sight for people driving down Stearns Road.  He pointed out that there 
are five (5) parking spaces which are nine feet (9’) wide, and one parking space which is 
designated for the residents parking. Residents tandem park in this space, similar to a 
driveway with one car behind the other. 
 
Mr. Wickert noted an additional three parking spaces which are nine feet (9’) wide and 
eighteen (18’) deep where the staff parks in the summer. Staff cars do not need to be 
moved when the restaurant is open and can park behind patrons’ vehicles.  
 
Mr. Wickert summarized that he requires twelve (12) parking spaces.  There are seven (7) 
spaces in the Stearns Road paved area, and four (4) patron parking spaces in the Stearns 
Road dirt parking area for a total of eleven (11), and there are an additional three parking 
spaces in the Ledge Road dirt parking area. He stated that there is enough parking on site 
to accommodate the required twelve (12) parking spaces. 
 
Mr. Heyland responded that the Zoning Ordinance states that parking spaces may not be 
immediately accessible from a public way.  
 
Mr. Wickert asked; “if the parking is an existing nonconforming parking area, would it be 
grandfathered?” 
 



Planning Board Site Visit – October 2, 2017 – Northern Union – 261 Shore Road (Map 5 Block 
15) 

3 
 

Mr. Feldman responded that it would not, because when a project, of any kind, comes 
before the Planning Board it opens up the whole site for review and it gives the Planning 
Board the opportunity to take corrective action. 
 
Mr. Heyland summarized that the question is: “if there is enough parking, why is it now a 
problem?”  The answer is because this is a new application for an expansion of use and 
the Board and the Town has the right to look at everything. 
 
Mr. Wickert argued that it is a change of use not an expansion. 
 
Mr. Heyland responded that it is an expansion because Mr. Wickert is adding two 
hundred and fifty feet (250’) of restaurant. 
 
Mr. Wickert stated that it’s on an existing deck. 
 
Mr. Heyland and Mr. Feldman responded that he (Mr. Wickert) is adding seats which is 
an enlargement. 
 
Ms. Botsford asked if Mr. Wickert looked at reconfiguring the parking area. 
 
Mr. Wickert responded that there isn’t enough width to the parking area to have stalls 
which meet Code.  
 
Mr. Heyland agreed and added that there would have to be a twenty-four foot (24’) lane 
between the parking stalls which would have to be eighteen feet (18’) deep to allow cars 
to turn around. 
 
Mr. Feldman added that if the parking were forty-five (45) or sixty (60) degrees it would 
allow for a twelve foot (12’) lane for one-way circulation of vehicle movement. 
 
Mr. Hayes asked if valet parking would change things. 
 
Mr. Feldman responded that the applicant would need to have a parking lot, somewhere 
other than on site. However there is a section of the ordinance which does not allow for 
direct access to a public way. 
 
Mr. Heyland added that there two sections of Article 8.10 Parking - that relate to that 
question: 
 
8.10.A.1.b  Parking areas with more than four parking spaces shall be arranged so 

that it is not necessary for vehicles to back into the street. 
 
8.10.B.2.c  Access to parking stalls should not be from major interior travel lanes, 

and shall not be immediately accessible from any public way. 
 



Planning Board Site Visit – October 2, 2017 – Northern Union – 261 Shore Road (Map 5 Block 
15) 

4 
 

Ms. Botsford asked if: there are four (4) spaces in the Stearns Road paved area, and there 
were three (3) legitimate parking spaces in the Ledge Road parking area? And if the 
applicant is trying to establish five (5) parking spaces in the Stearns Road dirt parking 
area? 
 
Mr. Heyland responded that they are trying to establish that there are fourteen (14) 
parking spaces. If the applicant were to assign four (4) parking spaces, which is the 
maximum allowed under the Code to back out onto a public way, to the paved Stearns 
Road parking area, he would still need to find eleven (11) additional spaces which don’t 
back out onto a public way. 
 
Fire Chief O’Brien asked if the Planning Board has the right to waive some of the 
parking, particularly for a business like this one on Shore Road which gets so much foot 
traffic. 
 
Mr. Feldman responded that they can, however they need to consider other options such 
as valet parking, and whether or not the applicant can meet other requirements by 
providing additional information.  There is still the issue of vehicles backing out onto a 
public way. Mr. Feldman asked Mr. Wickert if the rear of the property could be cleared 
to create a one way vehicle flow. 
 
Mr. Wickert responded that they cannot. That area of the property has a lot of ledge and 
there is about a five foot (5’) drop in elevation between Stearns and Ledge Roads, it 
would also be too close to the property line. 
 
Ms. Bevins stated: The Applicant needs twelve (12) spaces for the restaurant, two (2) for 
the apartment, and one (1) for the real estate office. She asked why the applicant can’t be 
grandfathered for the spaces. She understands that it’s a new application; however she 
didn’t understand why the parking arrangement couldn’t be grandfathered. 
 
Mr. Feldman responded that he is telling the Board what the Ordinance says and how 
they should look at it.  If the Board chooses to allow this parking to continue as it is, 
that’s the Board’s decision and they can do that if they choose too. 
 
Ms. Bevins responded that the parking has been this way since the 1970’s and there have 
been additions made to this building, such as the real estate office.  The parking 
arrangement isn’t something that just happened. 
 
Mr. Feldman responded that this is a question for the Board to discuss. 
 
Ms. Freedman asked about the parking space for the resident. 
 
Mr. Heyland stated that this property requires two (2) parking spaces for the residential 
unit. 
 



Planning Board Site Visit – October 2, 2017 – Northern Union – 261 Shore Road (Map 5 Block 
15) 

5 
 

Mr. Wickert responded that there is a space at the edge of the Stearns Road dirt parking 
area.  
 
Ms. Bevins stated that it can’t be tandem parking. 
 
Mr. Heyland responded that he doesn’t recall that restriction; however he would look into 
it. 
 
Mr. Wickert summarized that there are seven (7) spaces in the Stearns Road paved area, 
four (4) spaces in the Stearns Road unpaved parking area (plus the residential parking), 
and three (3) spaces in the Ledge Road unpaved parking area for a total of fourteen (14) 
parking spaces dedicated to the restaurant. 
 
Mr. Wilkos asked about reconfiguring the parking spaces on the Stearns Road unpaved 
area. 
 
Chief O’Brien suggested less parking spaces in this lot, configured in a single line so that 
cars could back up and turn around within the parking area before exiting out onto 
Stearns Road. 
 
Mr. Wickert responded that part of the intent was to provide parking spaces onsite for 
staff so that they don’t have to park in public lots. Employees park at the rear of the area 
and patrons park tandem, in front, of them.  He noted that this works because the 
employees don’t have to move their cars when the restaurant is open. 
 
Ms. Freedman asked why the handicapped space isn’t normal size. 
 
Mr. Wickert asked if the space has to be handicapped van accessible or just handicap 
accessible. He added that he put that handicap space in when he had that lot striped; and 
he followed the State guidelines.  
 
Mr. Heyland responded that the ordinance says that one (1) space shall be available for 
handicapped parking.  
 
At this time the group moved across the rear of the property to the Ledge Road unpaved 
parking area. 
 
Mr. Wilkos asked if the Board can waive the number of parking spaces. 
 
Mr. Heyland responded that this is the only thing the Board can waive. It cannot waive 
standards; but it can waive the total number of spaces.  The applicant has to provide 
information which convinces the Board that he meets the requirements for parking space 
waivers.  
 
Mr. Wickert pointed out the three parking spaces which he marked off with spray paint. 
They are all 9’ wide by 18’.5” deep. 



Planning Board Site Visit – October 2, 2017 – Northern Union – 261 Shore Road (Map 5 Block 
15) 

6 
 

 
Mr. Heyland asked if there were any boundary pins. 
 
Mr. Wickert responded that he wasn’t aware of any. 
 
Mr. Feldman pointed out one granite monument; and he and Mr. Heyland looked for, and 
were unable to locate, any additional boundary pins. 
 
The rear abutter came out and informed the Board that the property line runs along the 
existing stone wall. 
 
At this time the group moved to the Shore Road side of the property.  
 
Mr. Wickert noted that he removed the strings of lights.  He does have spec sheets for 
dark sky rated lights which he will submit for the next meeting. He noted that there is a 
temporary rope light under the railing to provide lighting for safety. 
 
Ms. Bevins noted that Main Street parking backs up into Route One, and her restaurant in 
Perkins Cove also has parking spaces which back up onto a street. 
 
Mr. Wickert pointed out the deck seating. He noted that he re-measured the deck which is 
11’6” x 21’.  He indicated the fire pit and surrounding crushed stone “patio”. When it was 
installed he didn’t consider it to be a “patio” because it didn’t have a solid floor. He noted 
the temporary wood fire pit; and stated that conduit has been run for the installation of a 
gas fire pit.  
 
Ms. Freedman asked if patrons can bring drinks out to the fire pit area. 
 
Mr. Wickert responded that his liquor license does cover the fire pit area. He noted the 
vegetative buffering around the area, and the sign which states “no liquor beyond this 
point”. He added that there will be a second sign which will read “Guests of Northern 
Union 21 and Over Only”. They have security cameras which allow him to monitor 
everything that takes place on the deck and fire pit area.   
 
Mr. Wickert stated that as long as patrons do not take anything off premises they may 
carry their drinks out to the fire pit area. He added that very often when people are 
finished with dinner; and they have some wine left they come outside to finish it.  The 
area is also used for people waiting for a table. He will never serve drinks or food to 
people seated at the fire pit area.  If they want to consume anything in that area they have 
to go inside and talk to the bartender. 
 
Mr. Wickert pointed out that he removed the strings of lights. He has temporary LED 
rope lights tucked under the railings until he can have the new lights installed.  The new 
lights will be gooseneck hanging type lights which are dark sky rated. 
 
Mr. Heyland noted that rope lights are allowed as long as they can’t be seen. 



Planning Board Site Visit – October 2, 2017 – Northern Union – 261 Shore Road (Map 5 Block 
15) 

7 
 

 
Mr. Wickert confirmed that per the Fire Chief’s recommendation there will be an 
emergency shut off switch at the gas fire pit. He noted that there is a photo in the Board’s 
packet indicating what the new gas fire pit will look like.  
 
Ms. Bevins expressed her displeasure that the Board was not provided a survey.  It is her 
understanding that every applicant coming before the Board has to have a survey, 
particularly when the application involves parking. 
 
Mr. Wickert responded that he looked everywhere and couldn’t locate a survey.  Having 
one done now would be very expensive, around $3000. He will ask the Board to waive 
that requirement. 
 
Ms. Bevins asked if it is a requirement. 
 
Mr. Feldman responded that it isn’t a requirement; however separate from this project, 
and  going forward he would like to see the Board be more diligent about requiring 
surveys unless the project involves a use going into a multi-use building with off street 
parking.   
 
Mr. Feldman referred to Article 12.3 of the Zoning Ordinance which states that: 
 
“Every application of any approval required under a site plan review shall be 
accompanied by a Standard Boundary Survey, Category 1, Condition 3.  However, the 
Town Planner or Planning Consultant may waive the requirement of this Section and 
accept a plan of a lower classification, category or condition, provided the scale remains 
at 1’ = 40’, if the Planner or Planning Consultant determines that special characteristics 
of the site, such as a large parcel size (50 acres or greater) or large street frontage (500 
feet or greater) or changes to only a specific location on a site plan so warrant.  Plans 
showing engineering details submitted as part of the site plan application shall be 
prepared by a professional engineer.” 
 
Mr. Heyland agreed that a $3000 survey for smaller projects might be a hardship. He 
suggested that as the process unfolds, if the Board determines that it needs the additional 
information a survey would provide, they could ask for it at that time. He noted that as 
this particular project is coming around a survey is probably needed; however that is up 
to the Board. 
 
Mr. Wilkos stated that any Site Plan Review which has come before the Board has had a 
survey, they have never not had a survey. 
 
Mr. Feldman responded that Ogunquit has a lot of small tight lots with a lot of business, 
and the Town needs to consider the need for surveys more often than not. 
 
Mr. Wilkos asked if the Board should require a survey for this project. 
 



Planning Board Site Visit – October 2, 2017 – Northern Union – 261 Shore Road (Map 5 Block 
15) 

8 
 

Mr. Feldman responded that is up to the Board. 
 
Mr. Wilkos asked if there were any other comments or questions from the Board. There 
were none and the Site Visit was adjourned at 4:36 p.m. 

 
 
Respectfully Submitted 

        Maryann L Stacy 

Maryann Stacy 
Recording Secretary 
 
 
 

Approved on October 23, 2017 


